
 

 
 
 
 
Summons to Meeting 
 
Friday 13 November 2020 
 

Council 
 

Monday 23 November 2020, 7.00 pm 
 

Zoom Virtual Meeting 
 

Membership: 
  
Councillor Hilary Harrington (Chair) Councillor Malcolm Grainger (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong 
Councillor Mary Bainbridge Councillor Carmel Bell 
Councillor Herbert Briggs Councillor Markus Campbell-Savours 
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor John Cook 
Councillor John Crouch Councillor Allan Daniels 
Councillor Janet Farebrother Councillor Marion Fitzgerald 
Councillor Peter Gaston Councillor Iain Greaney 
Councillor Michael Heaslip Councillor Alan Hedworth 
Councillor Vaughan Hodgson Councillor Daniel Horsley 
Councillor Mike Johnson Councillor George Kemp 
Councillor Peter Kendall Councillor Janet King 
Councillor Adrian Kirkbride Councillor Sally Lansbury 
Councillor Jim Lister Councillor Peter Little 
Councillor Elaine Lynch Councillor Louise Maguire 
Councillor Anthony Markley Councillor Owen Martin 
Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes Councillor Ron Munby MBE 
Councillor Alan Pitcher Councillor Joe Sandwith 
Councillor Blain Sansom Councillor Paul Scott 
Councillor Andrew Semple Councillor Alan Smith 
Councillor Stephen Stoddart Councillor Alan Tyson 
Councillor Will Wilkinson Councillor Lynda Williams 
 

 
This meeting will be broadcast live on the Allerdale Borough Council YouTube™ 

Channel. 

If you have any questions or queries contact Gayle Roach on 01900 702502. 

 
 
 
 
 



Agenda 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 

2. Declaration of Interests   
 

 Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct. 

  

3. Exclusion of the Press and Public   
 

 To consider whether there are any items on the agenda for which the press and 
public should be excluded. 

  

4. Notices of Motion   
 

 The following motions have been received -  
 

1. From Councillor Alan Smith 
 
‘Council notes that we are in lockdown in a pandemic which prevents effective 
engagement with all our citizens, especially those without online facilities. 
Council also notes that central government intends to issue a White Paper "in 
the Spring" on local government reorganisation which may set out criteria which 
may be amended following full national consultation and responses to the 
content of the White Paper. 
Council therefore urges central government to defer consideration of any 
responses which may be received to the civil servant's letter of 9 October 2020 
until after consideration of responses to the White Paper and after publication of 
the final criteria for local government reform which should include fully inclusive 
consultation and analytical processes for such significant decision making. 
Council instructs the Chief Executive to convey the text of this resolution to 
central government’ 
 
 

2. From Councillor Michael Heaslip 
  
‘Council notes that the current proposed criteria  for unitary local governments  
include a minimum population of 300,000 which is bigger than the population of 
the majority of existing unitary Councils; and has no basis in legislation nor in the 
experience of those unitary Councils, many with populations less than 150,000 
and in some cases less than 100,000, which nevertheless are assessed as 
providing economy, efficiency and effectiveness for their residents and excellent 
public value. 
Council further notes that a minimum population threshold of 300,000 is 
incompatible with the other criteria of providing effective representation of places 
which reflects their identity and geography, particularly where population density 
is lower and where such a threshold renders the “local” meaningless. 
Council notes that West Cumbria/Cumberland (Allerdale/Copeland) is an ancient 
historic entity with an economy, culture, geography, sense of place and identity 
which distinguishes it from the rest of present-day Cumbria, and believes that the 
option of establishing a unitary Council which reflects that distinct identity should 
not be ruled out by arbitrary criteria, but should be available to them, if that is 



what the citizens of West Cumbria/Cumberland (Allerdale/Copeland) choose. 
Council instructs the Chief Executive to convey the text of this resolution to 
central government’. 

  

5. Local Government Re-organisation  (Pages 5 - 28) 
 

6. Election of Leader of the Council  
 

 

 
 
Chief Executive 
 

 
Date of Next Meeting: 

 
Wednesday 9 December 2020, 7.00 pm 

Zoom Virtual Meeting 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Council – 23 November 2020 

 

Local Government Reorganisation 

 
 
Portfolio holder    Councillor Mike Johnson  

Report from    Nik Hardy – Head of Strategy, Policy and Performance 

Wards affected    All 

Is this a key decision   No (the Executive decision is a Key decision)  
 

 
 

1.0  The reason for the decision 

1.1 On 9th October 2020, all Local Authorities in Cumbria received an invitation from the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) to submit 
proposals for Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) in Cumbria. This paper 
provides a summary of the background to LGR and the current position. It also 
seeks to provide details of the Council’s approach in responding to the invitation.   
The Executive will be asked to make a decision to submit a full proposal on 25th 
November 2020. Members are asked to provide observations and comments for 
consideration by the Executive when making the decision.  

2.0  Recommendations 

2.1 That Members provide the Executive with observations and comments for 
consideration in making the decision to submit a full proposal for Local Government 
Reorganisation in Cumbria on 25th November 2020. 

3.0  Background and Introduction 

3.1 Local Authorities are created by statute or royal charter. The current system of local 
government in Cumbria was created by the Local Government Act 1972, which 
introduced a major reorganisation of local government across the country into a 
two-tier structure with effect from 1st April 1974.  

3.2 Further Local Government Reorganisation undertaken in the mid-1980s abolished 
the county councils in the metropolitan areas. Additional reform followed the Local 
Government Act 1992, with the creation of unitary authorities in areas such as 
Humberside and Cleveland.  

3.3 The current legislation that facilitates changes in local government structures and 
boundaries is the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



3.4 In 2006, the Secretary of State invited proposals for re-organisation resulting in new 
unitary authorities across the country, with a further tranche created in 2009. The 
most recent reorganisations utilising this legislation were in Buckinghamshire (2020) 
and Northamptonshire (2020).  

3.5 There are two procedures under the 2007 Act relating to local government 
restructuring:  

 Invitation by the Secretary of State for proposals to local government 
restructuring; and  

 Following a review by the Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England.  
 

3.6 In 2019, the then Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government set out, in a written statement to the Commons, the specific 
circumstances in which he would be prepared to issue a formal invitation to councils 
to submit proposals for new unitary councils, under the Local Government and 
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. He indicated that the Government was 
supportive of councils that wished to combine when locally requested, but was not 
in favour of unitarisation being imposed top down.  

 
3.7 He further reinforced that a proposal for unitary councils can be implemented if the 

Minister concludes that, across the area as a whole, the proposal is likely to:  
 

 Improve the area’s local government 

 Command a good deal of local support across the area 

 Cover an area that provides a credible geography for the proposed new 
structures, including that any new unitary council’s population would be 
expected to be in excess of 300,000 

 
3.8 A further White Paper on Local Government Reorganisation and devolution was 

expected in the autumn of 2020, but this is now expected in 2021. A proposal could 
be implemented without agreement across the County on the preferred model. 

 
3.9 In July 2020, Local Council Leaders from across Cumbria met with the Secretary of 

State. At that meeting, the Secretary of State confirmed that local authorities could 
ask him to invite proposals. Subsequent to this meeting, the Deputy Leader of 
Allerdale Borough Council, the Leader of Carlisle City Council and the Mayor of 
Copeland Borough Council wrote to the Secretary of State to request that a local 
government reorganisation process in Cumbria be initiated.   
 

3.10 On 9th October, all Councils in Cumbria received an invitation from the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) to submit proposals for 
Local Government Reorganisation in Cumbria in accordance with the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. This invitation is attached 
as Appendix A to this report. 
 

3.11 The timelines for submitting a proposal were detailed in the invitation, with outline 
proposals due by 9th November 2020 and full proposals by 9th December 2020. 

Page 6



4.0  Content (to include alternative options considered) 

 
4.1 At a meeting held on 2nd September 2020, the Executive put in place the necessary 

mechanisms to begin the process of developing a proposal for Local Government 
Reorganisation in Cumbria in anticipation that the local authorities in Cumbria would 
be invited to submit proposals. This included inter alia, agreeing to work with one or 
more Cumbrian authority in submitting a proposal, allocating resources to support 
the project and the creation of a Member Working Group (this was later named the 
LGR Cross Party Working Group).  

4. 2 Subsequent discussions with other Cumbrian authorities resulted in the Council 
jointly commissioning KPMG with Carlisle City Council, Copeland Borough Council 
and Eden District Council to develop an outline and full proposal, in line with the 
invitation received from MHCLG, for a two unitary authority model in Cumbria with a 
Combined Authority and Directly Elected Mayor. 

4.3 This, preferred, model for reorganisation emerged further to discussions with 
Council Leaders in Cumbria and an initial options assessment undertaken internally 
by officers against criteria that included: 

o Service performance 
o Democratic leadership 
o Local engagement 
o Economic Growth 
o Co-terminosity with partners 

4.4 Some potential alternative models were discounted at this stage of the process. 
Once such model was for three unitary councils, on the grounds that the population 
size did not come close enough to the Government’s guidance of an aggregated 
population of 300,000 to 600,000, or such other figure that, having regard to the 
circumstances of the authority, including local identity and geography, could be 
considered as substantial. Furthermore, the three unitary model did not score 
favourably on democratic leadership and service performance.  

4.5 The full proposal will be developed utilising the current guidance on the 
development of proposals, which was issued in 2006, and specified the criteria to 
which any proposal must conform. These were as follows: 

 The change to the future unitary local government structures must be: 
o Affordable, i.e. that the change itself both represents value for 

money and can be met from council’s existing resource 
envelope; and 

o Supported by a broad cross section of partners and 
stakeholders; and  

 Those future local government unitary structures must: 
o Provide strong, effective and accountable strategic leadership; 
o Deliver genuine opportunities for neighbourhood flexibility and 

empowerment; and  
o Deliver value for money and equity on public services.  

 

Page 7



4.6 In developing the full proposal KPMG will identify and evaluate options on the 
potential geographical coverage of the preferred model. The options analysis will 
consider: 

 Opportunities for sustainable growth – this includes criteria such as 
economic growth potential and inclusive growth 

 Impact on service delivery – this includes criteria such as service 
improvement and service geography 

 Democratic representation – this includes criteria such as effective 
local representation and identity 

 Financial benefits and sustainability- this includes criteria such as 
long term financial sustainability and income potential 

4.7 The full evaluation criteria can be found in the outline proposal attached to this 
report as Appendix B.  

4.8 Initial high-level evaluation results of the various models under consideration 
utilising this methodology indicate that the two unitary council model offers a 
stronger case than a single unitary council in Cumbria. Furthermore, it reveals that 
there is a strong case to be made for the two main models under consideration: 

 Allerdale, Copeland and Carlisle Councils forming one authority 
and Eden, South Lakes and Barrow Councils forming another 
authority  

 Allerdale, Carlisle and Eden Councils forming one authority and 
Copeland, Barrow and South Lakes forming another authority 

4.9 Further to the initial findings that there is a strong case to be made for either option 
the Executive’s current preferred option is to develop a proposal for two unitary 
authorities utilising the option which would see Allerdale form a unitary Council with 
the current Copeland and Carlisle Council boundaries.  

4.10 Further to this it will also create a vision for the future of local government and 
services in Cumbria, demonstrate public support for the model and propose a high 
level implementation plan. The vision contained within the outline proposal is: 

 “We will promote Cumbria with strong and fair representation for our communities 
and businesses. Our services will drive sustainable economic growth, enable safe 
and healthy lives and deliver value for money for everyone.”  

4.11  The final evaluation assessment of the various models are to be discussed with the 
other Councils at a joint workshop on the 19th November and verbal feedback will 
be provided at the meeting.  

4.12 The decision to submit a proposal and the form of the proposal is an Executive 
decision. The Deputy Leader of the Council signed off the initial proposal on the 9th 
November 2020, and the decision to submit the full proposal will be taken by the 
Executive at their meeting on 25th November 2020, after taking into consideration 
the views of all Members.   

Page 8



4.13 A number of proposals for Local Government Reorganisation will be forthcoming 
from Cumbria. Cumbria County Council’s Executive approved their submission for a 
single unitary council in September 2020, South Lakeland District Council, Barrow 
Borough Council and Lancaster City Council have also submitted a proposal for a 
unitary council. The latter proposes that Allerdale, Copeland, Carlisle and Eden 
Councils form a single unitary council. 

4.14 Carlisle City Council, Eden District Council and Copeland Borough Council have all 
submitted an outline for Government for a two unitary authority model. Copeland 
Borough Council’s Executive authorised their Chief Executive to submit a full 
proposal. In submitting a proposal Copeland Borough Council wish to consolidate 
the combination of Copeland and Allerdale as one economic prosperity area that 
must not be divided in any two unitary model for Cumbria. 

4.15 The discussion around Local Government Reorganisation enables a parallel 
conversation around a potential devolution deal for Cumbria. The preferred model of 
government for devolution favours combined authorities and a directly elected 
mayor. This would require local government reorganisation in the county so that 
additional layers of local government are not created. There are a number of 
funding opportunities through devolution including the gain share, however, and 
more importantly, significant levels of funding have been ring fenced for regions with 
directly elected Mayors in recent years, e.g. 5 year transport fund of £4.2b, 
Brownfields Fund £900m. 

5.0  Delivery arrangements 

 
5.1 Upon receipt of a full proposal the Secretary of State will give it due consideration 

and decide whether or not to formally consult and the length that any consultation 
may take. There must be consultation by the Secretary of State with all affected 
local authorities in the event that more than one proposal is submitted for an area 
over a period of at least six weeks 

5.2 If, at the end of the consultation process, the Secretary of State approves one of the 
Cumbrian proposals the government would work with the councils to progress a 
Structural Change Order. This is likely to see the creation of a Shadow Authority. 

5.3 It is likely that the existing councils in Cumbria will be given an additional function to 
prepare for and facilitate the timely transfer of the Council’s functions, property, right 
and liabilities. 

5.4 The exact timings for the creation of any new authority are yet to be determined but 
the Shadow Authority is likely to operate for a year before the creation of the new 
authority and at that point, existing councils will be abolished.   

6.0 Implications and Impact 

6.1 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

 Local Government Reorganisation presents an opportunity to support the 
aspirations of Members contained within the Council Strategy. A unitary authority 
creates an opportunity to provide the residents of Allerdale with improved, more 
efficient services and greater financial sustainability.   

Page 9



6.2 Finance/Resource implications 

There are no immediate financial implications arising from this report.  The 
reorganisation of local government could bring opportunities for efficiency savings 
but there will be costs of both abolishing the existing authorities and creating the 
new authorities. 

6.3 Legal and governance implications  

Proposals for a unitary authority are submitted under Part 1 of the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. As the Act makes no 
specific reference to a decision maker on submission of proposals, the decision is 
an Executive decision as under the Local Government Act 2000 (s 9D(2)) any 
function of a local authority not specifically assigned a decision maker in regulations 
is to be a function of the executive of the authority.  

 There are no immediate legal and governance implications arising directly from this 
report, however, subsequent decisions made by Government may have significant 
implications for the Council.  

6.4 Risk analysis 

 A scored and mitigated risk log 
 

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Mitigated 
score 

Allerdale’s model is not 
put forward by 
government to be 
formally consulted on  

The current 
district boundary 
will form part of 
one of the other 
options 

Ensuring that the 
preferred model is an 
strong as possible 
based on the criteria 
set out by 
government  

3x4 

Allerdale’s model is not 
the preferred model 
chosen by the 
communities and 
residents of Cumbria 
as part of the formal 
consultation carried 
out by government 

The current 
district boundary 
will form part of 
one of the other 
options 

Ensuring that there is 
broad community 
support at submission 
stage and a good 
deal of support at 
formal consultation 
stage 

3x4 

    

 

6.5 Increasing satisfaction and service 

 There are no service issues directly arising from this report.  

6.6 Equality impacts 

 An equality impact assessment has not been completed for this report. This report 
has not direct implications for residents. Future decisions on Local Government 
Reorganisation will be made by Government further to local consultation.  

 

Page 10



6.7 Health and Safety impacts 

There are no health and safety impacts arising from this report. 

6.8 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

There are no health, wellbeing and community safety impacts arising directly from 
this report. 

6.9 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

There are no environmental or sustainability impacts arising directly from this report.  

6.10 Other significant implications 

 Whilst not arising directly from this report, future decisions on Local Government 
Reorganisation could have a significant impact on the local government structures 
in Allerdale, ultimately resulting in the abolishment of the Council. 

 

Appendices attached to this report 

 

Appendix number Title of appendix 

Appendix A Invitation to submit proposals for Local Government 
Reorganisation in Cumbria 

Appendix B Cumbria Local Government Reorganisation Outline 
Proposal 

Appendix C LGR Timeline 

 

Background documents available 

 

Name of background document Where it is available 

  

 
 
Report author(s) and contact officer(s): 
Nik Hardy 
Head of Strategy, Policy and Performance  
Nik.hardy@allerdale.gov.uk  
01900 702778  

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT IN HEALTH ACT 2007  

INVITATION FOR PROPOSALS FOR A SINGLE TIER OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT  

 

The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government, in exercise of his 

powers under Part 1 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, 

hereby invites any principal authority in the area of the county of Cumbria to submit a proposal  

for a single tier of local government, in accordance with paragraphs 1 to 3 below.  

1. If an authority wishes to make a proposal in response to this invitation it must submit by 9 

November 2020 at least an outline proposal, and if a full proposal has not been submitted by 

that date, the full proposal must be submitted as soon as practicable thereafter and by no later 

than 9 December 2020. 

 2. In responding to this invitation an authority must have regard to the guidance from the 

Secretary of State set out in the Schedule to this invitation, and to any further guidance on 

responding to this invitation received from the Secretary of State.  

 3. An authority responding to this invitation may either make its own proposal or make a 

proposal jointly with any of the other authorities invited to respond.  

 

Signed by authority of the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 

Government.   

 

 

P Rowsell  

A senior civil servant in the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government  

9 October 2020 

 

  

  

  

Page 13



SCHEDULE  

Paragraphs 1 to 2 below set out guidance from the Secretary of State.  

1. A proposal should seek to achieve for the area concerned the establishment of a single tier 

of local government, that is the establishment of one or more unitary authorities:  

a. which are likely to improve local government and service delivery across the area of 

the proposal, giving greater value for money, generating savings, providing stronger 

strategic and local leadership, and which are more sustainable structures;  

b. which command a good deal of local support as assessed in the round overall across 

the whole area of the proposal; and 

c. where the area of each unitary authority is a credible geography consisting of one 

or more existing local government areas with an aggregate population which is either 

within the range 300,000 to 600,000, or such other figure that, having regard to the 

circumstances of the authority, including local identity and geography, could be 

considered substantial. 

 2. The following matters should be taken into account in formulating a proposal:  

a. A proposal should describe clearly the single tier local government structures it is 

putting forward, and explain how, if implemented, these are expected to achieve the 

outcomes described in paragraph 1 above. 

 b. The need for evidence and analysis to support a proposal and any explanation of 

the outcomes it is expected to achieve, including evidence of a good deal of local 

support. 

c. The impact of any proposed unitary authorities on other local boundaries and 

geographies. If the area of any proposed unitary authority crosses existing police force 

and fire and rescue authority boundaries, the proposal should include an assessment 

of what the impact would be on the police forces and/or fire and rescue authorities and 

include the views of the relevant Police and Crime Commissioners and Fire and 

Rescue Authorities.   

d. Any wider context for any proposed unitary authorities around promoting economic 

recovery and growth, including possible future devolution deals and Mayoral 

Combined Authorities. 

e. If the proposal submitted by 9 November 2020 is an outline proposal it should 

indicate what further material is expected to be provided and when this would be 

submitted which should be no later than 9 December 2020. 

    

 

 

Page 14



Allerdale Borough Council

November 2020

Cumbria
Local Government 
Reorganisation
Outline Proposal

P
age 15



1

1 Purpose of this report 2

2 Key opportunities for Cumbria 3

3 Challenges for Cumbria 4

4 The case for local government reorganisation 5

5 The case for a two unitary model 6

6 Our vision for local government in Cumbria 7

7 The evaluation criteria 8

8 Further details in the full proposal 9

Contents

Contents page

P
age 16



2

Purpose of this report

Objectives of this report

The key objectives of this document are to:

• Clearly outline the case for change;

• Demonstrate our vision for local government in Cumbria and how that supports 

the delivery of key elements of the Government’s policy agenda;

• Document the criteria to agree a geographic model for future unitaries; and

• Outline the further detail to be included in the full proposal by the 9th December

This document is the outline proposal for local government reorganisation in Cumbria submitted by Allerdale Borough Council. It 

details the case for change in Cumbria, how we are agreeing the best geographic model and the further detail that will be included in 

our full proposal.

Carlisle

Eden

Allerdale

Copeland

South 

Lakeland

Barrow Lancaster

P
age 17



3

Key opportunities for Cumbria

Cumbria has significant strengths and opportunities to grow and develop, from the existing strong tourism industry to nuclear and 

renewables assets that can enable it to lead the UK towards net zero ambitions.

Cumbria has significant assets and opportunities to develop and grow which 

include:

• The opportunity to establish an elected mayor to promote the region and 

give a clear voice for the people and economy of Cumbria through devolution.

• Cumbria  is  a  Centre  of  Nuclear  Excellence:  decarbonising  heat,  power  

and  transport, and driving clean growth as we head towards Net Zero by 

2050. Through the Barrow shipyard we are also at the core of the UK’s 

defence industries and nuclear deterrent.

• We have significant assets for renewable energy including a large coastline 

and favourable weather conditions which can support the UK’s clean energy 

agenda and net zero ambitions.

• Cumbria is home to a wealth of natural assets including the Lake District 

world heritage site, three Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, parts of the 

Yorkshire Dales National Park and the Cumbria Coast Marine Conservation 

Zone. These open spaces and their biodiversity supports tourism which brings 

over 47 million people and £3.1bn to the local economy every year.1

• We make a significant contribution to national rural economy with the 

commitment to innovate and the use of new technologies to support food self 

sufficiency and wider national agricultural policy.

1. Cumbria Tourism (https://www.cumbriatourism.org/what-we-do/awards/)

P
age 18



4

Challenges for Cumbria

Cumbria faces a number of local challenges and issues while managing the national issues of devolution and EU Exit and the 

international challenges posed by COVID-19 and climate change.

In addition to national issues such as COVID-19, forthcoming white 

papers on devolution and planning, EU Exit, health and social care 

integration, climate change and digitisation, Cumbria faces some 

specific challenges including: 

Large, rural and sparsely populated - Cumbria is the second largest 

county in the country but has a small and mostly rural population 

which means delivering high quality services fairly across the whole 

area is challenging.

Financial sustainability - Local government nationally is under 

significant financial pressure. Prior to COVID-19 the Councils in 

Cumbria required savings of £16.8m in 2020/21 on top of savings 

made since 2011.1

Shrinking and ageing population - The population is older than the 

national average and is expected to shrink which presents a challenge 

regarding skills, economic growth and adult social care.2

Inequalities- There are pockets of significant deprivation and 

significant variations in life expectancy, education and other key life 

factors across the county.

1. Medium Term Financial Plans of the seven councils

2. ONS population estimates

P
age 19



5

The case for local government reorganisation

Local government reorganisation is supported by the authorities of Cumbria as it presents an opportunity to deliver better services to 

residents, more efficiently and will bring clarity to local government. It will enable stronger leadership for Cumbria and enable 

devolution to attract investment, strengthen the economy and level up the region.

The key benefits associated with a move to unitary local 

government are:

• Stronger voice to central government - Unitary government 

will give a strong voice for the region on a regional, national and 

international stage.

• Unlocking devolution – Local Government Reorganisation may 

enable a devolution deal with a possible mayoral Combined 

Authority and the region has ambitions to lead the way towards 

carbon negativity while creating jobs, promoting growth and 

‘levelling up’ across the region.

• More efficient governance - The two-tier system creates 

duplication and overhead costs for residents which reduces the 

value for money that the people of Cumbria expect.

• Scale in service delivery – More efficient delivery will enable 

greater organisational sustainability to enable services to be 

resilient, efficient and improved.

• Integrating planning and delivery – the two-tier system 

separates planning from delivery which weakens the 

effectiveness of economic development. This also prevents 

joined up services e.g. separating delivery of children’s services 

from services that support children, such as leisure and cultural 

services.

• Clarity in democratic representation – The two-tier system 

creates confusion regarding the role of District and County 

councils. A unitary structure provides a single organisation to 

contact regarding residents’ local area.

This report assumes that local government reorganisation will take 

place in Cumbria, and focusses on the opportunities that it presents 

for the people and organisations of the county.

P
age 20



6

The case for a two unitary model

A two unitary model is the only practical approach to supporting Cumbria, balancing population needs, size and efficiencies of scale 

with local geography, infrastructure and culture. Cumbria is a large, sparsely populated county 

Two unitaries provides the right balance of population size and 

economies of scale with the practicalities of Cumbrian geography, 

culture, society and economy. Cumbria is too large to enable a single 

authority to be efficient and effective but the population is too small 

for three authorities to be efficient. Two unitaries will enable us to 

meet and exceed the expectations of our communities, particularly 

through post-Covid recovery.

• Cumbria has a low population density so, while the 500k 

population would be viable for a unitary, the population is spread 

over a large area which makes service delivery for the whole area 

more complex. 

• Services need to be local and reflect their place. Two unitary 

authorities will enable localism in service deliver as well as 

integration and harmony in delivery e.g. focused economic 

development. Existing County services are delivered over multiple 

different footprints within Cumbria so two unitaries represents a 

consolidation of service delivery.

• Two unitaries enables strong democratic representation for 

residents and place without placing too much pressure on town 

and parish councils to fill the gap

• Many residents do not identify with the boundaries of Cumbria 

County Council. The county came into being in 1974 replacing 

Cumberland and Westmorland and does not have a single unifying 

functional economy, socioeconomic geography or culture.

• Cumbria’s six largest cities and towns are in different districts and 

each have a very different identity and culture. Two unitaries will 

enable them to have a stronger voice and identity in how they 

are run, rather than centralising power in one hub.

• A future mayoral Combined Authority enables strategic planning 

and leadership while two balanced unitaries provides local service 

delivery and a strong basis for inclusive, clean growth.

P
age 21



7

Our vision for local government in Cumbria

We will promote Cumbria with strong and fair representation for our communities and 

businesses. Our services will drive sustainable economic growth, enable safe and 

healthy lives and deliver value for money for everyone. 

How we will achieve it

• Two unitaries providing local representation, 

responsibility and accountability as part of a strong 

Cumbria Combined Authority

• Local, responsive, accessible services, integrating 

planning and service delivery 

• Strengthening our economy to lead the UK 

towards a cleaner, prosperous future

• Delivering high quality services, efficiently and 

delivering value for our residents in collaboration 

with our partners

P
age 22



8

The evaluation criteria

This outline proposal does not include a preferred model for two unitaries in Cumbria as we are taking a detailed, evidence-based 

approach to understanding the options through five main evaluation criteria which are weighted to reflect our priorities for local 

government reorganisation

Impact on service delivery Weighting

Service improvement 5

Geography for service delivery 5

Minimal service disruption 4

Manageable demographics and 

demand
4

Partnership working 3

Capacity and resilience 4

Growth Weighting

Economic growth potential 5

Sustainable economic 

development 5

Inclusive economic growth, social 

mobility and levelling up 5

Unlocking investment 5

Housing development provision 4

Financial benefits and sustainability Weighting

Long term financial sustainability 5

Costs and complexity of 

reorganisation 3

Council tax equalisation 3

Income potential 4

Reserves, assets and liabilities 4

Democratic representation Weighting

Effective local representation 5

Identity 4

Functional economic geography 3

Representation in future 

Combined Authority
2

Public support

P
age 23



9

Further details in the full proposal

We will submit a full proposal which contains our model for local government reorganisation in Cumbria including the financial analysis 

that supports it, evidence of public support and a high level timeline for implementing unitary government in Cumbria.

Preferred model • Details of the geographic split of the two unitaries in Cumbria and how that model best achieves the 

vision set out in this document. The geographic model has not been detailed in this outline proposal 

as we are taking a detailed, evidence-based approach to understanding what is best for the people 

of Cumbria and its economic future. The previous page detailed the criteria against which we are 

assessing a shortlist of options.

Financial analysis • Analysis of the savings and synergies we expect to achieve through local government 

reorganisation, considering projected implementation costs, the implementation timeframe and when 

savings and benefits can be achieved.

Public support • Demonstration of the support for our two-unitary model for local government reorganisation from the 

public, community groups and key stakeholders.

Implementation • A high level outline plan for implementing local government reorganisation in Cumbria, considering 

the required democratic process and a period of shadow operations

P
age 24



10

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 26



Local Government Reorganisation Timeline 
Appendix C  
 
 

 14 July Deputy Leader of Allerdale, Leader of Carlisle and Mayor of Copeland write to the 

Minister to ask the process for Local Government Reorganisation in Cumbria be initiated 

 9 October formal invitation received from MHCLG 

 15 October full member briefing 

 19 October cross party working group  

 2 November cross party working group 

 5 November full member working group  

 6 November Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting 

 9 November Submission of initial proposal 

 19 November Cross Party Working group 

 23 Full Council Meeting 

 25 November Executive meeting 

 9 December full business case submitted 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 28


	Agenda
	5 Local Government Re-organisation
	Appendix A Invitation for Cumbria
	Appendix B Cumbria LGR Outline Case for Change
	Appendix C - LGR timeline


